1992

# Maverik Country Stores, Inc. v. The Industrial Commission of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## JURISDICTION

This is a Petition for Review of agency action, and the Court has jurisdiction for appellate review of the agency action pursuant to Section 63-46b-16(1), Utah Code, together with Section 78-2a-3(2)(a), Utah Code. See also, Rules 3, 4 and 14, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

## ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Did the Industrial Commission have jurisdiction to enter any orders while the case was already on appeal? Correction of error standard, no deference. *Hurley v. Board of Review of the Industrial Commission of Utah Department of Employment Security*, 767 P.2d 41 (Utah 1988).

II. Assuming the Commission had jurisdiction, was the "filing" of a Request for Reconsideration complete upon mailing? Correction of error (pure question of law), *Hurley, supra*; *State v. Dickey*, 199 Utah Adv. Rep. 21, 22 (Utah App. Nov. 3, 1992).

III. Assuming it had jurisdiction, and further assuming that mailing the request was insufficient, did the Commission abuse its discretion in failing to grant a one business day extension to file Maverik's Request for Reconsideration? Abuse of discretion standard.

IV. Has there ever been a final order from the Commission? Correction of error (pure question of law), *Hurley, supra*; *Dickey, supra*.

## DETERMINATIVE AUTHORITIES

All of these authorities, as well as certain key cases, are included in the Appendices (and are therefore not set forth verbatim here). Of particular help in determining this appeal are the Utah Administrative Procedures Act, relevant portions of which are included in the Appendix.

Key authorities include *Peters v. Peters*, 394 P.2d 71 (Utah 1964) (except in limited divorce situations, once a matter is appealed the lower tribunal loses jurisdiction to enter further orders).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

a. **Nature of Case.** This appeal is a Request for Review of the orders of the Industrial Commission, and specifically the Order Denying Review issued on March 30, 1992. It is closely tied to a prior and still pending appeal of the same Industrial Commission case, Court of Appeals Docket Number 910413-CA. That other appeal has been fully briefed and is awaiting oral argument, to be held simultaneously with argument on this appeal.

b. **Course of Proceedings and Disposition at Agency Level.** The procedural history is as follows:

- \* February 6, 1989 or earlier - McCord filed her claim with

the Division. Tr. 41, 42. Trial exhibit 3.

\* 1990-1991 - For some unexplained reason, the proceedings languish and are not actively prosecuted.

\* February 12, 1991 - "No cause determination" is written on an official file document, after the Division loses contact with McCord for a considerable while.<sup>1</sup>

\* February-March, 1991 - The Division's investigation ends with an opinion that Maverik engaged in handicap discrimination.

\* March, 1991 - Maverik requests a *de novo* hearing.

\* May 15, 1991 - Formal hearing is held. Afterward, the parties submitted written closing arguments.

\* June 26, 1991 - Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order issued by Antidiscrimination Division Administrative Law Judge Lisa Michelle-Church. Attached as Appendix A. Although the decision called itself "final", the ALJ requested that the parties submit evidence and arguments on attorney fees to aid her in a later determination of attorney fees. No dollar amount of back pay or other damage was stated. Appendix A.

\* July 26, 1991 - Maverik files in this Court its first Petition for Review, assigning error to those Findings, Conclusions

---

<sup>1</sup> In *Gregerson v. Board of Review*, 199 Utah Adv. Rep. 20, 21 (Utah App. Oct. 28, 1992), a five year delay was reason for reversal and remand for a new hearing, where the agency delay deprived the appeals court of a reviewable transcript. Here the matter has dragged on and on. Three years were consumed for the "investigation" alone. This, combined with the "no cause determination" reflected in the Commission file, should result in dismissal or reversal. Section 34-35-7.1(3)(b), Utah Code requires, "If no settlement is reached, the investigatory shall make a **prompt** impartial investigation of all allegations made in the request for agency action." Emphasis added.

and Order. See Docket Number 910413-CA. That appeal is ready for oral argument.<sup>2</sup>

All of **the events below occurred after the Appeal** (Request for Review) was filed and this Court took jurisdiction.

\* August 10, 1991 - Since the agency continues to assume and act as if it had jurisdiction, Maverik requested an opportunity for discovery on reasonableness of the attorney fees and costs (totalling about \$27,000) sought by McCord.

\* September 10, 1991 - ALJ issues Supplemental Order relating to attorney fees and costs. Appendix B. This order also claims to be "final", but **still no amount of damages is determined or awarded.**

\* October 10, 1991 - Maverik seeks Commission review of the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, and of the Supplemental Order.

\* February 28, 1992 - The Division issues its Order Denying Review, attached as Appendix C. In that order the Commission refused to examine its earlier orders, ruling that Maverik was one day tardy in its request for Commission reconsideration. Even though the first order asked for more information on attorney fees, the Commission treated the initial order (Appendix A) and the supplemental order regarding attorney fees (Appendix B) as two completely separate matters, each being a "final" order.

The Commission held that because no request for agency review

---

<sup>2</sup> However, the Court has properly determined that these matters should be argued together after this one is ripe.

was filed within 30 days of the **first** order (an appeal to this Court was filed instead), it would not entertain reconsideration. It also refused to reconsider the **second** order, this time because Maverik mailed its request for agency review to the Commission on the 30th day (October 10, 1991) and it was not received by the Commission until the next business day (October 15, 1991).

\* March 19, 1992 - Maverik files its Request for Reconsideration of the February 26th Order Denying Review. Appendix D. Maverik pointed out that neither of the orders under consideration was final. Page 2. As a part of the request, Maverik moved for the one business day extension necessary to take away any question of timeliness.

**c. Disposition at Agency Level.**

\* March 30, 1992 - Commission issues its *Order Denying Request for Reconsideration*. Appendix E. **This is primarily the order appealed from here.** For the first time, the Commission **reverses itself on the issue of finality:** "Upon further review, we agree that the June 26, 1991 order **was not final** because the issue of attorney fees was reserved. . . ." Page 2 (emphasis supplied). This is the order appealed from here.

**Despite this flip flop on finality, the agency still denied reconsideration** because of alleged tardiness in requesting review of those two orders.

\* April 3, 1992 - Maverik files with the Commission its *Limited Request for Reconsideration*, setting forth the agency's

misunderstanding of law and procedure. Appendix F. This request explains Maverik's "good cause" for the one day extension. This request has not been ruled upon by the Commission.

\* April 6, 1992 - **Maverik** files its *Petition for Writ of Review* with this Court, which is **this appeal**. Appendix G. Maverik felt compelled to appeal the March 30th order, since the Commission called it (like every prior order) "final", and because that agency has been inconsistent in its holdings and treatment of finality of orders and time limitations.

d **Statement of Relevant Facts.**<sup>3</sup>

1. **Background.** Claimant Vickie McCord was employed for the first two weeks of October, 1988, as a part-time (three six-hour shifts per week) convenience store cashier. Tr. 38, 52, 55. She states that she has a "mitral valve prolapse" ("MPV"), a very common and usually symptom-free heart irregularity. Tr. 32, 34. However, there is no medical testimony in the record that she indeed has that condition. See, e.g., Tr. 33. McCord was "fine", and had no appreciable problems with the alleged MPV. Tr. 36, 47, 48, 104, 108.

Maverik manager Connie Jones interviewed and hired McCord. Tr. 38, 54. On the job application McCord indicated she had no heart

---

<sup>3</sup> The facts in this particular appeal are important mostly just for background, with the possible exception of those having to do with the alleged tardiness of a reconsideration request.



condition or life-threatening problem. Exhibit<sup>4</sup> 1, tr. 39, tr. 146-147.

There was evidence that McCord had trouble reading gas pumps and often smelled of alcohol on the job, but also that she did well at the till. Tr. 44, 45, 58, 62, Exhibit 3, 135-136. Maverik's employees testified that termination was not the result of a handicap or perceived handicap.

McCord's duties included cashier, stocker, janitorial, public contact and record-keeping, and sometimes she would be required to work alone in the store. Tr. 53, 64.

On October 14, 1988 McCord was waiting on customers when she experienced agitation and chest discomfort while working a shift alone. Tr. 66-67. She told Jones for the first time about her MPV, and said that it frightened her. Tr. 68. McCord left for the emergency room, where she was checked and released. Tr. 68-71. The doctor released her to return to work. Tr. 71.

Although the details and reasons are disputed, Jones terminated McCord later that day. Tr. 72-82. Jones indicated she had heart problems in her family. Id. She terminated McCord because, among other things, she said she felt uncomfortable leaving McCord alone to work such a stressful job, both physically and mentally. Tr. 79-82, 94, 95. Exhibit 4. The ALJ found that termination was because McCord had a handicap or perceived handicap.

---

<sup>4</sup> References to "Exhibits" are to those introduced at the formal agency hearing of this matter.

McCord made some effort to look for work, Tr. 110-113, Exhibit 8, but failed in several instances to follow up on jobs. Tr. 132-133. She got a janitorial job at Ashley Elementary School a couple of weeks after she was fired by Maverik, where she worked for two months. Tr. 111. **She earned more per hour and worked more hours per week than she had at Maverik.** Tr. 111. Eventually she quit her new job because of an unspecified illness. Tr. 112.

McCord has no goal of being a convenience store clerk as a career. Tr. 132. At trial, she did not know the difference between full time and part time employment, tr. 157, and had no idea what she earned during the years for which she claims Maverik owes her wages (late 1988 through 1991). Tr. 258. McCord attended school, and testified that she expected to begin working for the Forest Service. Tr. 158-159.

**2. Facts relating to timeliness.** The Commission's *Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order*<sup>5</sup> on June 26, 1991, and its Supplemental Order on September 10, 1991.

Maverik mailed its request that the Commission review its orders on October 30, 1992, and the document was date stamped at the Commission on the next business day. The Commission found this request to be late, and refused in its *Order Denying Reconsideration* (Appendix E) to grant an extension.

---

<sup>5</sup> This document was timely appealed from in Docket # 910413-CA, which appeal remains outstanding and was pending when each of the Commission's subsequent orders was purportedly entered.

Maverik had requested the one business day extension in its *Request for Reconsideration*. But its "good cause" for an extension was best set forth in its April 3, 1992 *Limited Request for Reconsideration*. Appendix F. The good cause includes:

- \* the arbitrariness of the Commission's conduct,
- \* shortness of the extension sought,
- \* the fact the case was already on appeal,
- \* the vague and undefined nature of the term "issuance"<sup>6</sup>,
- \* the equally vague nature of the term "filing",
- \* the fact the days of "lateness" included a Saturday, a Sunday and Columbus Day, October 14th,
- \* The Supplemental Order was received by Maverik's counsel by mail, and the reconsideration request was actually received by the Commission about 28 days after its receipt by mail,
- \* the fact that at the time the ALJ issued her *Supplemental Order*, Maverik's counsel were employed on an emergency basis to defend a criminal defendant in a jury trial which began on September 16, 1992 and lasted for several days (ending in mistrial after six days). *State of Utah v. Stephen Cartisano & Challenger Foundation II*, 90-CR-47, Sixth Circ., Kane County.
- \* Maverik's counsel had another trial on October 3, 1991 before Judge Daniels of the Third District Court, along with several other court matters during the time period of September 18 through October 10 (the due date for filing the reconsideration request).

The Commission has never ruled on the *Limited Request for Reconsideration*.

---

<sup>6</sup> However, an agency decision is considered "issued" for judicial review purposes on the date stamped on its face, here September 10th. *Dusty's v. Utah State Tax Commission*, 199 Utah Adv. Rep. 7, 9 (Utah App. Oct. 30, 1992). This new ruling does not prevent the previous vagueness of the agency's handling of the question from being a reason for agency extension of its own internal review.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Commission has entered various orders, all while their case was already on appeal. Its orders are void for lack of jurisdiction. In the alternative, the *Request for Review* was timely filed. Finally, Maverik showed "good cause" for its one day extension, and failure to extend the time constitute an abuse of discretion.

The ALJ has still never ruled on several issues, and to this day has still never specified the judgment amount. See argument in briefings of companion appeal, Docket # 910413-CA.

## ARGUMENT

1. Because the matter was on appeal the Commission lost jurisdiction to act. None of its orders or denials have any validity. After the Commission is reversed on the related appeal<sup>7</sup>, the matter can be remanded for appropriate action at that time.

Although Maverik filed a Request for Review and two Requests for Reconsideration (see appendices) with the Commission, the agency's lack of jurisdiction cannot be waived. Maverik filed those documents in an effort to protect itself from a "Catch-22",

---

<sup>7</sup> Docket Number 910413-CA

following the Commission's procedure of necessity to avoid losing its rights.

In June, 1991 the Commission issued its ruling, purporting it to be final. When Maverik filed its timely appeal in July, the case was moved to this Court and remains here until remanded. See, Rules 3(g) and 14(a), Utah R. App. P., and compare with Rule 36, Utah R. App. P. (Issuance of Remittitur). An agency cannot exceed its jurisdiction.<sup>8</sup>

While a judicial appeal of agency action is pending, there can be no review or further action on the original award. *Farmer Motor Co. v. Smith*, 249 Ky. 445, 60 SW2d 929 (Ky 1933); *Feid v. Department of Labor & Industries*, 1 Wash.2d 430, 96 P.2d 492 (1939).<sup>9</sup>

**2. The time for reconsideration or appeal of the first order has passed.** Maverik chose to appeal, and the Commission's power to enter to orders or reconsider terminated. See 2 AmJur2d *Administrative Law* Sec. 530, including notes 18 and 19, and cases there cited.

The non-agency corollary of this rule has been affirmed in Utah. When the issues in a main judgment are appealed, "the

---

<sup>8</sup> See, *Bosquet v. Howe Scale Co.*, 120 A. 171, 172 (Vt. 1923).

<sup>9</sup> See also, *Traders & Gen. Ins. Co. v. Durbin*, 119 SW2d 595 (Tex. Civ. App. 1938) and other Texas and Florida cases cited at 165 ALR 26 III(e). See also contra cases from Connecticut, Georgia, New Mexico and New Jersey at same location.

district court is indeed without jurisdiction as to them." *Peters v. Peters*, 394 P.2d 71, 73 (Utah 1964). "In this respect the divorce judgment is like other judgments." *Id.*

*Peters* was a divorce case. While the decree was on appeal, the trial court adjusted the rights of the parties based on changed circumstances. The Supreme Court held that this was proper only because of the unique nature of family law, and because there had been a change of the family circumstances. A copy of *Peters* is attached as Appendix H. It clearly operates on the assumption that filing an appeal robs the trial court of jurisdiction until it is remanded.

Outside the divorce arena, once a case is appealed the trial court has no jurisdiction to modify the judgment, vacate it or enter another. *Davidson Chevrolet v. City and County of Denver*, 330 P.2d 1116, 1118 (Colo. 1958). The *Davidson* trial court was held to be in error for trying to reconsider its judgment after the appeal was already taken. In this matter, the Industrial Commission entered a supplemental judgment, denied review, denied reconsideration and changed its mind about the first judgment's finality, all after that judgment was taken up on appeal.

**3. The Commission has created a convoluted mess.** It should have abstained from all action once the appeal was filed. Having failed to abstain, the agency should have granted review, and later reconsideration.

The agency has acted in a way that is inconsistent and

confusing at best, and an irrational pattern of conduct at worst.  
The Commission has:

With regard to the first appeal,

- \* found handicap discrimination without properly considering what a "handicap" is,

- \* entered a "final" order that sets forth no damage amount (which it still has not calculated), and which reserves the attorney fee issue for further determination,

- \* awarded an attorney fee amount that bears no relationship to any possible damage award (if one is ever set).

With regard to this appeal,

- \* first argued that no Request for Review by that agency was timely filed, refusing to consider that which was filed, even though the time limit for such a request is not jurisdictional,

- \* argued that the initial order was final and unappealable, so this Court had no jurisdiction over the first appeal,

- \* then entered a supplemental order awarding attorney fees (query: "supplemental" to a final order?), still stubbornly asserting that the original order was final,

- \* then refused to review that order because Maverik's request was mailed on the due date rather than received,

- \* implied that the reason it could not extend the time was because of Section 34-35-7.1( 11)(b) Utah Code does not permit it, Appendix C, page five.

- \* later acknowledged that the above section only prohibits the agency from extending the time for **judicial** review, Appendix E,

page two,

\* then failed to find good cause for the one business day extension of time Maverik sought, Id.,

\* at the same time (in its fourth formal and again "final" order) reversed itself, holding, "Upon further review, we agree that **the June 26, 1991 order was not final** because the issue of attorney fees was reserved . . . ." Appendix E, page two, emphasis added,

\* gone on in the same order to hold that notwithstanding this "concession" as to finality of the very first order, Maverik was without a remedy for alleged late filing of a request to reconsider that very order, and its "supplemental" order,

\* never yet explained away or reconciled how its decisions can be final or valid without ever determining a damage amount,

\* never once distinguished or even dealt with the landmark case on handicap discrimination,<sup>10</sup> nor even mentioned it.<sup>11</sup>

---

<sup>10</sup> McCord also entirely ignores *Salt Lake City Corp. v. Confer*, 674 P.2d 632 (Utah 1983). *Confer* (Appendix H) holds that handicap discrimination cannot exist unless the job is a "major life activity." The privilege of worker at a particular kind of job or for one employer is not a "major life activity." Id. at 635. By requiring a "major life activity" the legislature avoided making a discrimination lawsuit out of every termination based on a physical characteristic. *Confer*, 674 P.2d at 636. McCord denied that her goal or chosen occupation is convenience store clerking. Tr. 132. Without mentioning *Confer*, the ALJ ruled that working is a major life activity, so each job loss constitutes interference with a major life activity. This is directly against *Confer's* holding.

<sup>11</sup> *Confer* observes:  
Most or all persons have some physical or mental deviations from a norm or from personal or employer aspirations. Considerations of height, weight, sensory



The Commission has Maverik in a "catch 22". To issue an order, repeatedly say it is final, and then months later decide that it was not final after all, has created minor chaos in this case. Yet the agency and McCord would both have the Court dismiss both of these appeals. To allow such agency error to deny Maverik its well-asserted appeal rights would violate the open courts provision of Article I Sec. 11 of the Utah Constitution, as well as the due process clause of United States Constitution, Amendment XIV.

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