1992

Maverik Country Stores, Inc. v. Industrial Commission of Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

III

Although Maverik claims that the Commission has created a "convoluted mess," Maverik certainly does not have clean hands in these two cases. Maverik raised a number of claims in this argument without specifying support in the record for them. These claims should therefore be dismissed.

IV

Maverik claims that it was required to mail its filing to the Commission, and that it was allowed an additional three days for mailing. Mailing is allowed by the Commission, but documents not received within the required time are not considered filed within the meaning of that term.

V

Maverik claims that the Commission abused its discretion in not granting it a one day extension in which to file a request for review. The Commission nevertheless considered all of Maverik's claims. Maverik did not raise any good cause defense in its next request for reconsideration even though the Commission informed it that good cause was authorized as a defense to late filing. Maverik finally raised this defense in its "Limited Request for Reconsideration" which was denied as a matter of law under U.C.A. Section 63-46b-13(3)(b)(1953 as amended'1988).

VI

Maverik claims that it cannot determine damages owed to McCord. The ALJ clearly spelled out the damages which were relatively simple, i.e. providing only for back pay, attorneys' fees and costs along with other injunctive relief allowed to be imposed by the Commission. Although Maverik alleges that it cannot even compute the damages to make an estimate, Maverik was able to claim before the ALJ that the attorneys' fees were vastly in excess of McCord's damages which it estimated to be in the range of \$8,000.

VII

Maverik claims that it has been deprived of its due process rights under the Utah Constitution, but has shown no prejudice other than vague claims. This is insufficient to show a denial of due process.

ARGUMENTS

The following issues are responses to those framed by Maverik. This Court should note that Maverik has raised more issues and some different issues than those which it framed in the issue section.

I

THE COMMISSION DID NOT LOSE JURISDICTION TO ACT
IN THIS CASE BECAUSE THE ORDER OF JUNE 26, 1991
WAS NOT FINAL AND BECAUSE MAVERIK DID NOT EXHAUST
ITS ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES PRIOR TO APPEALING TO THIS COURT

This Court should dismiss the Maverik's Petition for Review dated July 26, 1991 since the ALJ's order of June 26, 1991 was not final within the requirements of U.C.A. Section 63-46b-14(1)(1953 as amended 1988), and based on Maverik's failure to exhaust its administrative remedies in accordance with Section 14(2) of the same statute.

This Court has recently spoken concerning the requirements for finality in the order of the agency involved.

In Sloan v. Board of Review, 781 P.2d 463 (Utah App. 1989) (per curiam), the court concluded that 'an order of [an] agency is not final so long as it reserves something for the agency for further decision.' Id. at 464 ... The argument does not have merit. Petitioner confuses the requirement for exhaustion of administrative remedies with the requirement for finality. The order in Heinecke revoking petitioner's license was clearly final because it reflected the determination on all issues before

the agency, and the issue before this court was whether all levels of agency review were complete at the time judicial review was sought. In contrast, as noted in Sloan, the requirement of finality contemplates that the agency proceedings have been brought to their conclusion by disposition of all issues before the agency. The denial of a motion to dismiss allows the proceeding to continue in the agency and is not a final order for purposes of judicial review.

Barney v. Div. of Occ. & Pro. Licensing, 828 P.2d 542, 544 (Utah App. 1992).

It was clear to Maverik that there were other issues which remained unresolved when the ALJ issued her first order on June 26, 1991. R. 312-313. Both Maverik and the adverse party Vicky McCord reserved the question of appropriate attorney's fees, and agreed to address that issue in supplemental briefs to the Commission. Order, ALJ (June 26, 1991) at 9. In addition, McCord's counsel was ordered by the ALJ to "submit his brief on attorney's fees on or before twenty days from the date of this Order; Maverik's counsel shall submit a response brief, if any, ... on or before twenty days thereafter." Id. at 10. This certainly shows no finality since there was a significant issue remaining for resolution.

With regard to exhaustion of administrative remedies, the Commission respectfully requests this Court to revisit its decision in Heinecke v. Dept. of Commerce, 810 P.2d 459 (Utah App. 1991). Heinecke determined that the Utah Administrative Procedures Act

(U.C.A. Sections 63-46b-1 et seq.) did not require a party to request administrative review of an order if the pertinent agency statute did not contain language mandating such request. Heinecke was determined without the benefit of briefing by the parties. Heinecke, supra, at 463.

Heinecke relied on the Utah Supreme Court case of Hi-Country Homeowners v. Public Serv. Comm'n, 779 P.2d 682 (Utah 1989) to impliedly and expressly conclude that a party does not have to request review within an agency unless there is mandatory language in the agency's statutes requiring a party to request review where such review is available.

Such a reading of Hi-Country is not required. There is no language in Hi-Country requiring the plain language of the Utah Administrative Procedures Act (hereafter Act) to be ignored. The pertinent language from the Act states:

...[A] party may seek judicial review only after exhausting all administrative remedies available

U.C.A. Section 63-46b-14(2) (1953 as amended 1988) (emphasis added).

The current law also provides that:

If a statute or the agency's rules permit parties to any adjudicative proceeding to seek review of an order by the agency ... the aggrieved party may file a written request for review within 30 days after the issuance of the order with the person or entity designated for that purpose by the statute or rule.

U.C.A. Section 63-46b-12(1)(a)(1953 as amended 1988).

Both of these two sections are substantially unchanged from the versions relied upon by the Utah Supreme Court. There is no reason for this Court to conclude from Hi-Country that U.C.A. Sections 63-46b-12(1)(a) and 14(2) cannot be read together to require Maverik to exhaust its administrative remedies prior to filing a judicial appeal.

There is no language in the organic statutes for the Commission which provide that exhaustion is not required. In the absence of such language, exhaustion of administrative remedies is required. U.C.A. Section 63-46b-14(2)(a).

There is absolutely no language in the ALJ's order which can be construed to state that Maverik is entitled to judicial review and that the order is a final order. In fact, the order shows that it is an order which was subject to becoming final and "not subject to review or appeal" only if Maverik did not exercise its right to request a Motion for Review by the Commission. R. 140. Maverik mistakenly or intentionally filed its request with this Court in violation of the requirements of U.C.A. Section 63-46b-12(1)(a)(1953 as amended 1988) which allowed review by the full Commission.

The rules promulgated by the Commission clearly state that orders "are not final Commission Orders ... until the Order is

affirmed in a Commission Order on review per Section 63-46b-12, U.C.A." This rule and others were made by the Commission under the authority of U.C.A. Section 34-35-7.1(13) (1953 as amended 1991).

U.C.A. Section 34-35-7.1(11)(a) relates that "[e]ither party may file a written request for review of the order issued by the presiding officer in accordance with Section 63-46b-12. Section 7.1(11)(a) immediately follows Sections 34-35-7.1(6)-(10) which sections all refer to formal adjudication hearings. R560-1-5 (Utah Admin. Code). Thus, it is clear that the written request referred to in Section 34-35-7.1(11)(a) relates to a request for review of the ALJ's decision concerning the formal proceeding or hearing.

Since the June 26, 1991 order was not final at the time Maverik filed its petition for review with this Court, and since Maverik did not exhaust its administrative remedies, there was no jurisdiction on which this Court could entertain Maverik's appeal of July 26, 1991.

Assuming without conceding that the June 26, 1991 order was a final order, Maverik was required to exhaust its administrative remedies by filing for a Motion for Review to the full Commission under U.C.A. Section 63-46b-12 (1953 as amended 1988).

For all the above reasons, this Court should therefore dismiss the appeal in Docket Number 910413-CA.

II

THE COMMISSION'S POWER TO ENTER
ORDERS IN THIS CASE WERE NOT
TERMINATED DUE TO LACK OF FINALITY,
FAILURE OF MAVERIK TO EXHAUST ADMINISTRATIVE
REMEDIES, AND MAVERIK'S FAILURE TO ASK
FOR A STAY OR OTHER TEMPORARY REMEDY
PENDING JUDICIAL REVIEW

Maverik alleges that it "chose to appeal, and the Commission's power to enter to (sic) orders or reconsider terminated." The Commission will not rehash the lack of finality or exhaustion of administrative remedies arguments which it made in Argument I. The Commission will merely refer this Court to that Argument.

Maverik argues that when the "issues in a main judgment are appealed, "the district court is indeed without jurisdiction as to them." It then cited Peters v. Peters, 394 P.2d 71, 73 (Utah 1964) as support for this argument. The Commission would point out that there was no question that the district court's order in Peters was final. Of course, since the forum in Peters was a district court there was no requirement that administrative remedies be exhausted prior to appeal.

The administrative agency is not equivalent to the district court, and, for example, because the Commission is involved in matters to protect the public health, safety, or welfare, the Act limits a Court's authority to issue a stay where the agency has declined to do so. This case does not appear to involve a

substantial threat in one of the mentioned three areas, and there would have been no reason for the agency not to issue such a stay upon motion of one of the parties. U.C.A. Section 63-46b-18(3) and (4) (1953 as amended 1988).

Maverik never requested the agency to stay its orders or proceedings before or after its initial appeal to this Court on July 26, 1992. The Act specifically discusses allowing the agency to grant a stay during the pendency of judicial review.

(1) Unless precluded by another statute, the agency may grant a stay of its order or other temporary remedy during the pendency of judicial review, according to the agency's rules.

(2) Parties shall petition the agency for a stay or other temporary remedies unless extraordinary circumstances require immediate judicial intervention.

U.C.A. Section 63-46b-18(1) (1953 as amended 1988); See also Rule 8, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure (1992).

Not only did Maverik not request a stay, but it went on with its case by also requesting discovery on August 10, 1991 on the reasonableness of attorney fees and costs sought by McCord. Maverik Brief at 4. In addition, Maverik requested the Commission to review the ALJ's June 26, 1991 order as well as her supplemental order of September 10, 1991. Id. Subsequently, Maverik asked for reconsideration of Commission orders on March 19, 1992 and April 3, 1992. Id. at 5. Maverik has never asked this Court or the Commission to stay the Commission's proceedings or orders. It

should not now be allowed to complain that the Commission had no authority to entertain its motions and requests.

It can be argued that Maverik has waived its right to argue that the Commission has no jurisdiction to hear its motions and requests for reconsideration based on the doctrine of waiver. Waiver is 'the voluntary and intentional relinquishment of a known right.' Id.; see Rees v. Intermountain Health Care, Inc., 808 P.2d 1069, 1073 (Utah 1991); B.R. Woodward v. Collins Food Serv., 754 P.2d 99, 101 (Utah App. 1988). To waive a right, there must be an existing right, knowledge of its existence, and an intent to relinquish it. Hunter v. Hunter, 669 P.2d 430, 432 (Utah 1983); B.R. Woodward, supra. at 101. The intent to relinquish a right can be implied from conduct, if the party's conduct 'unequivocally evinces an intent to waive or [is] at least . . . inconsistent with any other intent.' Id. See Hunter, supra. at 432.

For these reasons, the petitions of Maverik should be denied.

III

MAVERIK HAS CREATED THE DILEMMA IN WHICH IT FINDS ITSELF BY NOT PROPERLY FOLLOWING THE STATUTES AND ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES ACT

Maverik alleges that the Commission "has created a convoluted mess." Maverik Brief at 12. The Commission assumes that a "convoluted mess" is much worse than a "mess." The Commission agrees that the posture of these cases are troublesome, but that

the blame must lie with Maverik, and its failure to understand and apply the procedural principles, statutes, and rules applying to administrative law and these cases.

The Commission will address procedural issues in this brief, without conceding those areas not addressed by the Commission, but discussed by McCord. McCord will address both procedural issues and well as issues on the merits.

It is clear by reading the hyperbolic remarks pertaining to this issue by Maverik on pages 12 - 15 of its brief that Maverik misrepresents much of what the Commission has done, and more importantly shows that Maverik does not understand much of the administrative law in this area.

Significantly, Maverik has failed to reference us to documentary citations to support most of their allegations on pages 12 - 15 of their brief, and the brief fails to minimally meet the requirements of Rule 24(9) (Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure (1992) which requires "citations to the authorities, statutes, and parts of the record relied on." The Commission therefore requests the Court to disregard Maverik's unsupported and unreferenced assertions in this section.

Although it is not clear to the Commission wherein Maverik finds support for all of its claims against the Commission, the Commission will attempt to address those issues which Maverik

asserts. The following Maverik claims on page 13 - 14 of its brief will be discussed.

"[F]irst argued that no Request for Review by that agency was timely filed, refusing to consider that which was filed, even though the time limit for such a request is not jurisdictional." Maverik Brief at 13. Several of its claims are related to this issue.

The gravamen of this claim appears to be that Requests for Review can be filed at any time, and that the Commission has no rules, statutes, or caselaw which would prevent it from reviewing the request. U.C.A. Section 63-46b-12 (1953 as amended 1988) sets forth some requirements for filing which are jurisdictional, and can only be avoided upon good cause shown. U.C.A. Section 63-46b-1(9) (1953 as amended 1988).

The first request for review of the June 26, 1991 order was made by Maverik on October 11, 1991 which was outside the 30 day requirement of U.C.A. Section 63-46b-12, supra. R. 310-319; Appendix C. Although the Commission determined initially that Maverik's filing was untimely as to the June 26, 1991 order, the Commission did consider and respond to all of Maverik's contentions which Maverik raised in its October 10, 1991 request. Appendix D & F. Therefore, if the Commission did commit error as to whether the October 11, 1991 request for review was timely, it was

harmless. See Commission Order, Feb. 28, 1992; Appendix F. Maverik gives the false impression that its claims were ignored and not responded to.

Significantly, the Commission did determine upon the request of Maverik on March 19, 1992 for reconsideration of its February 28, 1992 order, that the June 26, 1991 order of the ALJ was not final because the issue of attorney fees was reserved. Appendix F, at 2. Maverik did not show any good cause for delay in either its request for review of October 11, 1991 or its request for reconsideration of March 19, 1992. Appendix C & E, but see Appendix G. However, as previously mentioned, the Commission did consider and discuss in its orders, all of Maverik's contentions.

Much of the remainder of Maverik's claims relate to whether the Commission erred in considering its requests for review to be untimely. This issue will be considered later since Maverik raised it in several other issues in its arguments.

For these reasons the appeals of Maverik should be dismissed.

IV

THE REQUEST FOR REVIEW WAS
UNTIMELY FILED, BUT IF THIS
HONORABLE COURT FINDS THAT THE
REQUEST FOR REVIEW WAS TIMELY
FILED, THE COMMISSION HAS
CONSIDERED ALL OF MAVERIK'S
CONTENTIONS, AND THIS ALLEGED ERROR
IS HARMLESS

If this Court determines that Maverik could legally file its

appeal of the ALJ order of June 26, 1991 to this Court without requesting review by the full Commission then this issue is not relevant. However, the Commission believes that this issue should be resolved against Maverik.

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